

STUSSISSING NOR

PUNNING

INDIN Dribro

PEOPLE POWER

NURSON FRANTER CORPORATE **ACCOUNTABILITY IN THE CONTEXT OF HUMAN RIGH AND CLIMATE CHANGE** IN THAILAND

Submission to the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights in the context of climate change regarding corporate accountability in the context of human rights and climate change in Thailand December 2023

PLANET

STENING

11-30

V ak

RICEH

(RAN)

PIRI

AULE CBA



Submission to the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights in the context of climate change regarding corporate accountability in the context of human rights and climate change in Thailand

SUBMISSION BY

Manushya Foundation



This work is licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International Public License ("Public License"). To view a copy of this license, visit:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-d/4.0/legalcode

COPYRIGHT

@ManushyaFoundation2023

FOR MORE INFORMATION ON THIS JOINT CIVIL SOCIETY CEDAW REPORT, PLEASE CONTACT:

Emilie Pradichit Email: WeAreManushyan@manushyafoundation.org Tel: +66(0)951765921 Web: www.manushyafoundation.org

CITATION

Manushya Foundation, Submission to the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights in the context of climate change regarding corporate accountability in the context of human rights and climate change in Thailand, 11 December 2023.





Table of Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. Climate-related reporting and disclosure mechanisms in Thailand	 1
2.1. National Action Plan on Business and Human Rights	1
2.2. Flawed EIA reporting	2
2.3. ESG reporting	3
2.4. Opportunities	4
2.4.1. mHREDD - Mandatory Human Rights and Environmental Due Diligence	4
2.4.2. Legally Binding Instrument (LBI) on Business and Human Rights	 5
3. Carbon Credit Market in Thailand	 5
3.1. Carbon credit scheme in Thailand and T-VER program	5
3.2. The role of carbon credits in Thailand's false climate solutions and greenwashing	6
3.3. Application of Article 6 of the Paris Agreement in Thailand	7
ENDNOTES	9



Submission to the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights in the context of climate change regarding Corporate Accountability in the context of Human Rights and Climate Change

1. Introduction

The 28th Conference of Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (COP28) has further highlighted the strong influence business enterprises hold over the global climate efforts. With the record 2456 fossil fuel lobbyists attending the talks,¹ there is no doubt that corporations are strongly determined to sway climate action in the direction most convenient to them. The accountability of such enterprises is therefore of utmost importance, if we are to avoid the devastating impacts of global warming over the 1.5 degrees Celsius, as delineated by the Paris Agreement.

At this time, Manushya Foundation is responding to the call for input of the UN Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights in the context of climate change, to inform its report on corporate accountability in the context of human rights and climate change, to be presented to the 56th Session of the UN Human Rights Council in 2024.

The first part of the submission presents several corporate accountability frameworks in Thailand, their scope, potential to hold corporate actors accountable for their environmental and human rights violations and also their limitations. Importantly, the chapter focuses on the role and capability of these mechanisms in climate-related reporting and offers several regulatory routes that could strengthen it, and consequently contribute to the global greenhouse gas emission mitigation efforts.

The second part deals with one of the most important current issues in Thailand: the carbon markets that have the potential to exacerbate the human rights violations on the forest-dwelling and indigenous communities that have been happening in Thailand for years. The submission also elaborates on their human rights safeguards and links to international frameworks.

2. Climate-related reporting and disclosure mechanisms in Thailand

2.1. National Action Plan on Business and Human Rights

Due to the ongoing efforts of the Thai government representatives as well as some UN agencies, the corporate accountability framework in Thailand has been mostly associated with the National Action Plan on Business and Human Rights (NAP-BHR).² The document published in 2019 was originally prepared with participation of the civil society sector, led by Manushya Foundation and our intersectional coalition, Thai BHR Network. In-depth inputs provided by representatives of Thailand's indigenous peoples, forest dwelling communities, women, LGBTIQ+ or sex workers groups, and many others, were eventually disregarded and crucial provisions on the protection of indigenous peoples, sex workers or human rights defenders were left out.³

Importantly, the NAP-BHR omitted any legally binding measures, or robust strategies to adopt them, be it mandatory human rights and environmental due diligence (mHREDD) or standalone legislation



on the protection of human rights defenders against strategic lawsuits against public participation (SLAPP). Equally lacking in the climate change-related concerns, the NAP-BHR has not provided any obligations or guidance for corporations to report on their climate targets, e.g. their greenhouse gas emissions reductions.

In 2022, the former Thai government introduced the draft NAP-BHR 2 that, however, did not address any of the serious shortcomings of the first version. Despite the strong opposition of community members and civil society led by Manushya Foundation in the second half of 2022,⁴ the NAP-BHR 2 was adopted on 25 July 2023.⁵ Although the document contains provisions that reference international human rights standards more than the previous version,⁶ it is still highly problematic. The drafting process was not adequate as public participation was limited, with restricted access to information. While the second NAP-BHR acknowledges the need to address climate change, indicating that "business must consider climate change issues into account when conducting operations" and *encourages* corporations to establish greenhouse gas accounting, the document repeats the same pattern of voluntary measures that have failed the first version of the Thai NAP-BHR. Hence, the Thai NAP-BHR 2 is likely to be ineffective.⁷

2.2. Flawed EIA reporting

The Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) in Thailand is regulated by the Enhancement and Conservation of National Environmental Quality Act B.E. 2535 (1992), amended in 2018⁸ to be in line with the 2017 Constitution of Thailand. The law deals with the procedural aspects of the EIA, state agencies involved and timeframes of the process. Section 48 gives the Minister of Natural Resources and Environment the power to issue ministerial notifications that further specify the types of business projects that require an EIA report.⁹ The notification is also responsible for listing conditions of public hearing that should be organized as a part of the EIA process.

The EIA in Thailand contains certain guarantees for participation of communities but lacks in explicit provisions recognizing their rights, especially in the case of indigenous peoples and their right to ancestral lands and the right to a free, prior and informed consent, as per the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP).¹⁰ The law or the ministerial notifications also do not require any climate-related reporting, e.g. on future greenhouse gas emissions, as the case is in other jurisdictions such as Japan.¹¹ The Thai government has also recently established a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Committee to elaborate on new rules for the SEA process.¹²

Despite the existing legislation on EIA, its practical application and enforcement are dysfunctional and subordinate to the interests of corporate actors. Even if mandatory climate-related reporting was integrated into the EIA, in the current situation, there are no guarantees that corporations would truly disclose their relevant data. Several cases below demonstrate the ineffectiveness of the EIA reporting and simultaneous violations of community members' rights to freedom of expression, right to access information or their right to a peaceful assembly.

2.2.1. Communities from **Nabon district**, Nakhon Si Thammarat province in the South of Thailand, staged a week-long protest in Bangkok in July 2022, to demand a Strategic Environmental Assessment as the Government had earlier promised the SEA needed to evaluate environmental risks of a planned biomass-burning plant.¹³ This type of a power plant could be



potentially dangerous to the health of the neighboring communities, however, sufficient assessment was not conducted. $^{\rm 14}$

- **2.2.2.** In **Thepa district**, Songkhla province, similarly in the South of Thailand, the government enterprise EGAT (Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand) planned a construction of a coal-powered plant, one of the flagship projects for "clean coal" power generation in the country. Despite its claims on successful public hearings,¹⁵ the EIA process was flawed and failed to provide accurate information to the nearby communities, ensure their effective participation and transparency of the process.¹⁶
- **2.2.3.** The Chana Industrial Estate is a planned project in **Chana** district, Songhkla province, that became well-known all over Thailand, after more than 50 community members were arrested during their peaceful protest in Bangkok.¹⁷ The villagers demanded a Strategic Environmental Assessment of the project that would have far-reaching effects on their lives, livelihoods, and the environment. However, the community only learnt about the project after it had already been approved by the Cabinet and they were later actively prevented from attending public hearings and expressing their concerns.¹⁸
- 2.2.4. Phichit villagers have been fighting against the devastating impacts of a gold mine for over twenty years, after it had polluted groundwater, contaminated their farming land, and caused them serious health problems.¹⁹ Transparent EIA process had been a recurring issue since the start of the operations, during the expansion of the facilities and again, during the reopening of the mine in 2023, after a 5-year suspension.²⁰

2.3. ESG reporting

Thailand currently lacks a mandatory framework on ESG reporting applicable to all business enterprises, including the related reporting on climate change targets. In 2022, however, Thailand's Securities and Exchange Commission established an ESG reporting obligation on companies listed at Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET) which now must annually submit the so-called 56-1 One Report.²¹ While the report form requires information on human rights-related policies,²² including potential human rights violations cases, there are several shortcomings:

- **2.3.1.** The 56-1 One Report requirements are not human rights-based and miss crucial elements such as specific information on meaningful consultations with concerned communities, protection of human rights defenders, gender focus or specific steps to protect indigenous peoples.
- **2.3.2.** No International Human Rights Law sources (core human rights treaties or voluntary frameworks such as the UNGPs) are provided as a reference framework for human rights reporting.

One Report requests information on companies' greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and policy framework on GHG emissions management. The GHG emissions are required to be reviewed by an entity registered with Thailand Greenhouse Gas Management Organization or "the reviewer the Company regards as having work widely accepted according to international standards." The vague provision leaves in doubt the reliability of such GHG emission reporting data.²³



While the SET reporting requirements go further than the rest of Thailand's regulatory framework on corporate accountability with regards to reporting, they are still considerably limited in scope, as they are only applicable to SET-listed companies.

The SET also issued the "Sustainability Reporting Guide" which provides for more detailed reporting indicators on both human rights and GHG emissions. For instance, the human rights reporting indicators encourage companies to provide information on human rights due diligence measures, mitigation of negative human rights impacts, and provide the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the UNGPs as a reference point.²⁴ The Guide, nevertheless, is completely voluntary and intended, for example, for SET-listed companies that would like to go beyond the requirements of 56-1 One Report.

2.4. Opportunities

2.4.1. mHREDD - Mandatory Human Rights and Environmental Due Diligence

The Thai experience shows that voluntary measures are not enough to prevent human rights violations by companies. Similarly, voluntary measures might not be enough to shed light on GHG emissions by corporate actors and reputation alone will not force them to reduce such emissions. MHREDD could be an effective instrument that would require companies to report on the future and current amount of GHG emissions from each project and emissions reduction target and progress. Human rights and environmental impact mitigation measures disclosed by companies should also take into account the impending effects of climate change such as the heightened risk of extreme weather events, and plan for appropriate adaptation measures.

Building on the UNGPs²⁵ and best practices stipulated in the 2018 report of the UN Working Group on Business and Human Rights²⁶ as well as Manushya's experience of working alongside Human Rights Defenders on the ground, legislation for mandatory human rights and environmental due diligence of companies should contain the following components:

- 1. Impact Assessment of actual and potential human rights and environmental impacts and paths for their mitigation and remediation in line with the UNGPs and the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises. The assessment should take into account the impending effects of climate change (e.g., the heightened risk of extreme weather events) and analyze how they will play out together with the impacts of the business operation itself. It should be led by communities, be intersectional and examine the differentiated impacts of business enterprises on various members of the community. Due diligence obligations should apply to both, the company's own operations and its business relationships, e.g., through its supply chains.
- Meaningful and ongoing consultations with concerned rights-holders, following the requirements for the free, prior and informed consent (FPIC) especially for groups such as indigenous peoples, rather than tick-the-box exercises. Respect for local decision-making and ownership of the process must be ensured.
- 3. National administrative body overseeing the implementation of the mHREDD.
- 4. Comprehensive access to remedy guarantees and civil and criminal responsibility of companies.



- 5. **All business enterprises**, regardless of their size, should conduct HREDD, although its complexity might vary. **State-owned enterprises** must not be excluded from the application of mHREDD legislation.
- 6. Protection of Human Rights Defenders and whistleblowers.²⁷

2.4.2. Legally Binding Instrument (LBI) on Business and Human Rights

In light of the new legislative developments in Europe where Germany and France passed laws²⁸ containing mHREDD provisions and the insufficiency of the non-legally binding UNGPs, there is a strong need for an international legally binding instrument on business and human rights.²⁹ The most recent round of negotiations in October 2023 has made certain progress,³⁰ though more work is needed on the clarification of the scope of the instrument, integration of a feminist perspective,³¹ or clear and robust provisions on corporate accountability in the context of armed conflict.³²

The LBI should also address the situation of various marginalized groups such as indigenous peoples, women or the LGBTIQ+ individuals, clearly stipulate responsibilities of business enterprises of various sizes all along the value chain, contain mHREDD component and address access to justice and remedy for victims of corporate abuses. As mentioned in the previous section on mHREDD legislation, the due diligence component in the LBI could include climate-related reporting as one of the elements companies must cover in their disclosures of human rights and environmental risks and mitigation measures.

3. Carbon Credit Market in Thailand

Thailand aims to reach carbon neutrality by 2050 and net zero GHG emissions by 2065, a commitment they made at COP26.³³ However, Climate Action Tracker (CAT) states that Thailand's actions are insufficient. If all countries were to take the same steps as Thailand, we could expect global warming of 4°C.³⁴ As their reductions are measured against Business-as-usual (BAU) levels, which are disproportionately high, it makes their targets seem more ambitious than they are. The climate strategy strongly relies on reforestation to compensate for carbon emissions (instead of phasing out fossil fuels), which is where carbon credits enter the picture.

3.1. Carbon credit scheme in Thailand and T-VER program

Carbon credits were developed as a tool to aid the energy transition from fossil fuels to renewable energy, and as a mitigation technique against climate change. Their aim is to cut down on GHG emissions. A singular carbon credit is usually equivalent to a metric ton of CO2. Each credit is priced on the carbon market, where governments and companies can buy credits to compensate for their own emissions and instead, reduce, sequester, or avoid them somewhere else. Once a credit is used, it is no longer tradeable, and becomes an offset³⁵

In 2007, the Thailand Greenhouse Gas Management Organization (TGO) was established, under the Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment (MNRE), with the responsibility of managing Thailand's greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions.³⁶ TGO launched the first carbon credit trading available in Thailand in 2014: Thailand Voluntary Emission Reduction Program (T-VER), which has since become one of the key schemes to reduce carbon emissions in the country.³⁷



There is no mandatory carbon market.³⁸ Instead, Thailand's carbon credit market is classified as voluntary, offset, and regional.³⁹ This means buyers and sellers can trade directly with each other. In 2023, Thailand launched FTIX, a Carbon Credit Exchange operated by the Federation of Thai Industries designed to allow private companies, foreign and local, and government agencies to trade carbon credits while keeping track online.⁴⁰ Thailand's carbon credit market is currently seeing positive developments thanks to Thailand's private sector, who have set climate action targets.⁴¹

T-VER also introduced their revised premium T-VER⁴² to meet international standards such as VERRA, allow foreign companies to take part in the carbon credit market, and use the credits towards their own climate action targets.⁴³ Premium T-VER has stricter safeguards in place, with a more rigorous application process, that requires project developers to submit a modality of communication (MoC) stating the project will not result in double counting of GHG gas emissions, including a variety of other forms to ensure the carbon credits contribute to SDG goals.⁴⁴ It also contains a provision that "Project activities shall not negatively impact the natural environment or local communities and do no net harm,"⁴⁵ however, no further details or references to human rights standards are provided.

Representatives of the TGO signed a Memorandum of Understanding with VERRA, an organization creating carbon credit standards and certifications, in 2022, agreeing that VERRA would support the Thai agencies on harmonizing the T-VER program with international standards. While the matter of this cooperation is purely VERRA's support for the T-VER program, not an application process for its certification, it could be a positive development in the long term, if Thailand decides to pursue one of VERRA's standards such as the Verified Carbon Standard (VCS). The VCS standard includes rights-based safeguards, specifically strengthened for projects in "Agriculture, Forestry, and Other Land Use", that mandate an environmental and social impact assessment, aim to minimize land conflict, take into account the customary land rights, forbid land evictions and work with the concept of free, prior and informed consent.⁴⁶ Nevertheless, the integration of a standard such as VCS into the premium T-VER program might still take a long time and until then, no robust safeguards are provided for rights-holders potentially affected by the project.

3.2. The role of carbon credits in Thailand's false climate solutions and greenwashing

Carbon credit trading has continued to grow since its introduction, and so have the complications arising from relevant policies. While carbon credits can be a short-term solution to aid climate mitigation, it is very far from a long term one. Voluntary Carbon Markets (VCMs) such as Thailand's, have been found to be "worthless"⁴⁷, as they often lack a comprehensive regulatory framework to verify the emissions. Recent research has found carbon offset projects to be massive scams, while businesses, governments, and even the UN, have taken part in these projects.⁴⁸ Thailand's carbon market is often referred to as an "Over The counter" market, where buyers and sellers can trade directly. This leads to a lack of transparency as only they know exactly where the carbon emissions and reductions are occurring. This allows space for companies to greenwash their emissions, claiming that they have offset their business operations without proper verification in place.⁴⁹

Additionally, land that is being used to create carbon sinks through reforestation projects allow authorities to evict communities from their homes. These forest communities have been maintaining their land and the forest for generations. Often making them well-preserved forest lands, therefore lacking the ability to adequately yield high results. It is also unfair for the communities who are losing



rights to their own land, instead corporations are able to sell these carbon credits and gain even more.⁵⁰ Worse still, the carbon market is introduced in the context of Thailand's false climate solutions, reforestation and conservation policies that are used to achieve the country's climate goals but have caused criminalization and forced evictions of thousands of people from their homes.⁵¹

Some of the most prominent cases where forest-dwelling and indigenous communities have been threatened by reforestation policies and are in danger of being evicted from their own lands are the cases of Sab Wai and Bangkloi villagers:

- **3.2.1. #SaveSabWaiVillagers:** 14 villagers in Sab Wai village, Chaiyaphum province, were unfairly convicted of trespassing, utilizing, and clearing land in Sai Thong National Park, under Thailand's 2014 Forest Reclamation Policy and Orders 64/2014 and 66/2014 of the National Council for Peace and Order. Manushya Foundation has supported the community in advocating on the national and international level, however, the security of their land tenure is still not guaranteed.⁵²
- **3.2.2. #SaveBangkloi:** In a similar case, since February 2021, over 100 residents of Bang Kloi have been forcibly removed from their homes and accused of encroaching on the forest. 22 of them have been detained as they refused to leave, and they were denied access to their lawyers.⁵³ Their case has lasted for years and the land conflict even involved an enforced disappearance of a land rights defender Billy.⁵⁴ The main suspects of the case, four national park officers, people who were last seen with Billy before he disappeared, were acquitted of murder in September 2023.⁵⁵

3.3. Application of Article 6 of the Paris Agreement in Thailand

Article 6 of the Paris Agreement⁵⁶ allows for carbon credit trading among countries. Any country can enter into a bilateral agreement with another country and purchase carbon credits from them. This reduction in greenhouse gas emissions is then counted towards the purchasing country's Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs), the share of each country in global greenhouse gas mitigation efforts.⁵⁷ In other words, Article 6 enables transactions between two states where one state finances measures to reduce greenhouse gases (e.g. renewable energy projects) on the territory of a host state and in exchange, counts the greenhouse gas emissions savings towards its own net zero targets.

One of the issues that have not been fully clarified for the application of Article 6 have been so-called "corresponding adjustments", an accounting mechanism that would prevent the buyer and seller country from both counting the same reductions in GHG emissions.⁵⁸

Thailand has so far proved attractive to foreign countries seeking to purchase carbon credits abroad. It is one of only 42 countries worldwide which have already signed a bilateral agreement for a project under Article 6, and 3 out of only 7 purchasing countries have chosen Thailand as a host country (Switzerland, Singapore and Japan).⁵⁹ Under Thailand-Switzerland partnership, the Swiss Klik Foundation finances an electrification of Bangkok's privately run bus fleet⁶⁰⁶¹ and the subsequent carbon credits will represent the first ITMOs (Internationally transferred mitigation outcomes) transfer to happen under Article 6.⁶² Japan, through its Joint Crediting Mechanism, supports the transfer of low-carbon technologies (including renewable energy solutions) in Thailand, and currently has 11



registered projects in the country.⁶³ No details on the Singapore-Thailand partnership have been disclosed yet.

The fact that Thailand is on track to become a popular option for buyer countries under Article 6 is also showcased by two further initiatives, both of them supported by the International Climate Initiative (IKI): (1) IKI is currently conducting a pilot project in Thailand's Krabi, scoping the ITMOs potential of electrification of its busline.⁶⁴ (2) Thailand became one of 4 countries globally to be included in the "Supporting Preparedness for Article 6 Cooperation" project, intended to prepare these countries for Article 6 carbon credit trading.⁶⁵

While there is no information on human rights violations linked to current projects under Article 6 in Thailand, it is necessary to remain cautious and exert pressure on regulatory bodies to create and enforce human rights-compliant safeguards for these projects. As per the Carbon Credit Management Guide and Mechanism,⁶⁶ greenhouse gas emission reductions from the forestry sector are one of the project types eligible for the international carbon credit trading. However, in the context of persistent violations of the rights of indigenous peoples and forest-dwelling communities, as showcased in the previous section, carbon credit schemes for international trading could have devastating impacts on the already impoverished and dispossessed populations.

It is evident that ongoing land conflicts, insufficient policy safeguards, the lack of protection for land rights defenders and their criminalization, create a particularly dangerous context for carbon markets in Thailand. With the national reforestation-focused climate strategies and the lack of corporate accountability linked to business operations around the country, be it gold mining or tourism, it can be anticipated that carbon credit projects will gain priority in Thailand's development strategies and just as any "development" project, will involve large-scale human rights abuses.

Similarly to our requirements in the first chapter of the present report, mandatory human rights and environmental due diligence (mHREDD) should be a requirement for carbon credit trading projects. It would have to include meaningful consultations with concerned rights-holders, including their free, prior and informed consent (FPIC) with each project and protection of land and environmental human rights defenders.



Endnotes

- Global Witness, Record number of fossil fuel lobbyists granted access to COP28 climate talks, (5 December 2023), available at: <u>https://www.globalwitness.org/en/press-releases/record-number-fossil-fuel-lobbyists-granted-access-cop28-climate-talks/</u>
- ² Rights and Liberties Protection Department, Ministry of Justice, *First National Action Plan on Business and Human Rights* (2019-2022), (October 2019), available at: <u>https://globalnaps.org/country/thailand/</u>
- ³ For detailed chronology of Manushya Foundation's work on NAP-BHR and analysis of its features, see Manushya Foundation, *Communities let down by Thailand's NAP-BHR fight back: It's time to #StopNAPping!*, (2 November 2022), available at:

https://www.manushyafoundation.org/post/communities-let-down-by-thailand-s-nap-bhr-fight-back-it-s-time-tostopnapping

- ⁴ Manushya Foundation, *Thailand: What is NAP-BHR & Why We Don't Want It*, (7 October 2022), available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/post/thailand-what-is-a-nap-bhr-why-we-don-t-want-it</u>
- ⁵ International Commission of Jurists and Amnesty International, Amicus Curiae Brief in the class action of the plaintiffs: Mrs. Hoy Mai, Mr. Smin Tet, and several members, along with at least 23 families from the villages of Bos, O'Bat Moan, Taman, Trapain Veng, Ktum, and Kon Kreal Commune, Samrong District, Oddar Meanchey Province, Cambodia, (6 November 2023), available at: <u>https://www.icj.org/thailand-icj-and-amnesty-international-ask-the-court-to-apply-international-standards-inthe-first-ever-class-action-of-people-seeking-redress-for-harm-caused-by-activities-of-thai-companies-abroad/</u>
- ⁶ International Commission of Jurists and Amnesty International, *Amicus Curiae Brief in the class action of the plaintiffs: Mrs. Hoy Mai, Mr. Smin Tet, and several members, along with at least 23 families from the villages of Bos, O'Bat Moan, Taman, Trapain Veng, Ktum, and Kon Kreal Commune, Samrong District, Oddar Meanchey Province, Cambodia,* (6 November 2023), available at: <u>https://www.icj.org/thailand-icj-and-amnesty-international-ask-the-court-to-apply-international-standards-in-</u> the-first-ever-class-action-of-people-seeking-redress-for-harm-caused-by-activities-of-thai-companies-abroad/
- ⁷ Ministry of Justice, Rights and Liberties Protection Department, *DraftTranslation of the Second National Action Plan on Business and Human Rights (2023-2027)*, (2023), available at: <u>https://drive.google.com/file/d/1lyJggaBo-6RoUnxEwFvbxBWvBwLVtdng/view</u>
- ⁸ Enhancement and Conservation of National Environmental Quality Act (No. 2) B.E. 2561 (2018), available at: <u>https://eiadev.onep.go.th/UploadFile/12350125650315.pdf</u>
- ⁹ Office of Natural Resources and Environmental Policy and Planning, Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment, Environmental Impact Assessment in Thailand (4th edition), (September 2021), available at: https://eiadev.onep.go.th/UploadFile/07173225650315.pdf
- ¹⁰ United Nations General Assembly, *United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples*, (2007), available at: <u>https://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unpfii/documents/DRIPS_en.pdf</u>
- ¹¹ Asian Environmental Compliance and Enforcement Network, Assessing Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) in Thailand: Implementation Challenges and Opportunities for Sustainable Development Planning (Working Paper), (March 2015), p. 84, available at: <u>https://www.iges.or.jp/en/publication_documents/pub/workingpaper/en/5601/EIA+Thai+study_10Mar15-Final.pdf</u>
- ¹² See Manushya Foundation, *Environmental Democracy in Thailand & Laos: Barriers and Good Practices*, (October 2023), p. 7, available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/environmentaldemocracyinthailand-laos</u>
- ¹³ To learn more about the risks of biomass burning and its role in Thailand's climate targets, see Manushya Foundation, *Just Energy Transition in the Context of Extractive Sector in Thailand*, (May 2023), available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/2023submissiontoun
- ¹⁴ Manushya Foundation, *The government must fulfill the promise given to the #SaveNabon group!*, (27 July 2022), available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/post/the-government-must-fulfill-the-promise-given-to-the-savenabon-group</u>
- ¹⁵ Energy Policy and Planning Office, *Thailand Power Development Plan 2015-2036 (PDP2015)*, (30 June 2015), 2-5, available at: <u>https://www.eppo.go.th/index.php/en/policy-and-plan/en-tieb/tieb-pdp</u>
- ¹⁶ Manushya Foundation, Sai Thong Rak Pah Network, Indigenous Women's Network of Thailand, Thai Business & Human Rights Network and the Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, *Joint UPR Submission on Land-Related Rights, Forest Conservation Laws & Climate Change Policies: Thailand's Third Universal Periodic Review Cycle*, (25 March 2021), available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/joint-upr-submission-landrights</u>; Manushya Foundation, *UPR Factsheet: People and the Planet over Profit: Thailand's Third Universal Periodic Review Cycle*, (13 September 2021), available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/thailand-third-upr-cycle-factsheets</u>
- ¹⁷ Manushya Foundation, *We have to #SaveChana*, (7 December 2021), available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/post/we-have-to-savechana</u>
- ¹⁸ Manushya Foundation, UPR Factsheet: People and the Planet over Profit: Thailand's Third Universal Periodic Review Cycle, (13 September 2021), available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/thailand-third-upr-cycle-factsheets</u>
- ¹⁹ Manushya Foundation, *#JusticeForPhichit*, (2023), available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/justice-for-phichit</u>
- ²⁰ Manushya Foundation, Environmental Democracy in Thailand & Laos: Barriers and Good Practices, (October 2023), p. 3, available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/environmentaldemocracyinthailand-laos</u>
- ²¹ Ponpun Krataykhwan, The Development of ESG in Thailand, (2 August 2023), available at: https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=15cad36a-fba6-4a7a-a9cc-c3e202af8e2d



- ²² The Securities and Exchange Commission, Notification of Capital Market Supervisory Board, Annual Registration Statement / Annual Report (FORM 56-1 One Report), (1 September 2020), 2.2, 3.1, 3.4.1, 3.4.2, available at:
- http://capital.sec.or.th/webapp/nrs/nrs_search_en.php?chk_frm=1&ref_id=72&cat_id=30&topic_desc=Securities
 The Securities and Exchange Commission, Notification of Capital Market Supervisory Board, Annual Registration Statement / Annual Report (FORM 56-1 One Report), (1 September 2020), 3.3.2, available at:
- <u>http://capital.sec.or.th/webapp/nrs/nrs_search_en.php?chk_frm=1&ref_id=72&cat_id=30&topic_desc=Securities</u>
 ²⁴ Stock Exchange of Thailand, *Sustainability Reporting Guide for Listed Companies*, (2022), p. 43, 59, available at: <u>https://setsustainability.com/download/fso65mg8tibpzne</u>
- ²⁵ Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, *Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights*, (2011), available at: https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/publications/guidingprinciplesbusinesshr_en.pdf
- ²⁶ General Assembly, *The report of the Working Group on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises*, (16 July 2018), A/73/163, available at:
- https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2F73%2F163&Language=E&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=False 27 See Manushya Foundation, #RBHRForum2022 National Action Plans: Stocktaking and Charting the Way Forward, 21
- September 2022, (25 October 2022), 29:20, available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=r8VgiqmROCs</u>
 ²⁸ European Parliamentary Research Service, *Corporate sustainability due diligence: How to integrate human rights and*
- environmental concerns in value chains, (May 2023), available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2022/729424/EPRS_BRI(2022)729424_EN.pdf
- ²⁹ Manushya Foundation, We need the legally #BindingTreaty ensuring companies conduct mandatory human rights due diligence!, (20 September 2022), available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/post/we-need-the-legally-bindingtreaty-ensuring-companies-conduct-mandatory-human-rights-due-diligence</u>; Manushya Foundation, *Emilie Pradichit: "We elect Governments, not corporate actors!"*, (3 November 2021), available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/post/emilie-pradichit-we-elect-governments-not-corporate-actors</u>; Manushya Foundation, *Legally #BindingTreaty: Let's put an end to corporate violations of human rights & the environment!*, (29 October 2021), available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/post/legally-bindingtreaty-let-s-put-an-end-to-corporate-violations-of-human-rights-the-environment</u>
- ³⁰ Elodie Aba and Michael Clements, *Reflections on a week of negotiations on a legally binding treaty on business & human rights*, (1 Novmember 2023), available at: <u>https://www.business-humanrights.org/en/blog/reflections-on-a-week-of-negotiations-on-a-legally-binding-treaty-on-business-human-rights/</u>
- ³¹ Feminists for a Binding Treaty, *Five reasons the Binding Treaty needs to be feminist*, (20 October 2023), available at: <u>https://www.business-humanrights.org/en/blog/five-reasons-the-binding-treaty-needs-to-be-feminist/</u>
- ³² ESCR-Net and Al-Haq, Joint statement on behalf of ESCR-Net and Al-Haq, and supported by FIAN International, FIDH, and the Campaign to Reclaim People Sovereignty, Dismantle Corporate Power and Stop Impunity (Global Campaign), (24 October 2023), available at: <u>https://www.escr-net.org/sites/default/files/wesam-ahmed-generalstatement.pdf</u>
- ³³ Manushya Foundation has elaborated on Thailand's climate targets and strategies at length. See e.g., Manushya Foundation, Just Transition in the Context of Extractive Sector in Thailand, (May 2023), Available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/2023submissiontoun
- ³⁴ Climate Action Tracker, *Thailand Country Summary*, (2022), available at: https://climateactiontracker.org/countries/thailand/
- ³⁵ UNDP, What are carbon markets and why are they important?, (18 May 2022), available at <u>https://climatepromise.undp.org/news-and-stories/what-are-carbon-markets-and-why-are-they-important</u>
- ³⁶ Thailand Greenhouse Gas Management Organization (Public Organization), *About TGO/Background*, (2018), available at: <u>http://ghginfo.tgo.or.th/index.php/en/?option=com_content&view=article&id=4842</u>
- ³⁷ Thailand Greenhouse Gas Management Organization (Public Organization), Global Warming Potential: GWP for Thailand Voluntary Emission Reduction Program (T-VER), (22 May 2023), Available at <u>https://ghgreduction.tgo.or.th/en/premium-t-ver-download/173-premium-t-ver-download-gwp-emission-factor/3553-emission-factor-30-2565.html</u>
- ³⁸ Carbon Market, *Thailand Voluntary Emission Trading System: Thailand V-ETS*, (2019), available at: <u>https://carbonmarket.tgo.or.th/index.php?lang=EN&mod=Y29uY2VwdF92ZXRz</u>
- ³⁹ UOB Asset Management, Sustainability webpage, Carbon credits for sustainable development, (2023), p. 3, available at: <u>https://www.uobam.co.th/en/publication/download/283</u>
- ⁴⁰ UOB Asset Management, Sustainability webpage, *Carbon credits for sustainable development*, (2023), p. 6, available at: <u>https://www.uobam.co.th/en/publication/download/283</u>
- ⁴¹ SCB Economic Intelligence Centre, Key Challenges in Thailand's Carbon Credit Market, (20 April 2023), available at: <u>https://www.scbeic.com/en/detail/product/8952</u>
- ⁴² Thailand Greenhouse Gas Management Organization (Public Organization), What is Premium T-VER, (20 December 2022), available at: <u>https://ghgreduction.tgo.or.th/en/t-ver/143-premium-t-ver/about-premium-t-ver/3386-what-is-premium-t-ver/about-premium-t-ver/about-premium-t-ver/3386-what-is-premium-t-ver/about-prem</u>
- ⁴³ Kasikorn Research Center, Carbon credit market in Thailand...Opportunities for business sector, (11 October 2022), available at: <u>https://www.kasikornresearch.com/en/analysis/k-social-media/Pages/Carbon-Credit-FB-11-10-2022.aspx</u>
- ⁴⁴ SRPP Ltd, *Premium Thailand Voluntary Emission Reduction Program (or Premium T-VER), (25 July 2023), available at:* <u>https://www.srpplaw.com/post/premium-thailand-voluntary-emission-reduction-program-or-premium-t-ver</u>
- ⁴⁵ Thailand Greenhouse Gas Management Organization (Public Organization), *Guideline for Premium Thailand Voluntary Emission Reduction Program (Premium T-VER)*, (26 July 2022), available at: <u>https://ghgreduction.tgo.or.th/th/premium-t-ver-download/download/5566/3427/32.html</u>



- ⁴⁶ VERRA, VCS Standard, (22 January 2022), available at: <u>https://verra.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/VCS-Standard_v4.2.pdf</u>
- ⁴⁷ The Guardian, *Revealed: more than 90% of rainforest carbon offsets by biggest certifier are worthless, analysis shows,* (18 January 2023), Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2023/jan/18/revealed-forest-carbon-offsets-biggest-provider-worthless-verra-aoe</u>
- ⁴⁸ United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, *Policy Brief #5 Mobilizing Trillions for the Global South: The Imperative of Human Rights-based Climate Finance*, (November 2023), available at: <u>https://www.ohchr.org/en/press-releases/2023/11/mobilising-trillions-global-south-imperative-human-rights-based-climate</u>
- ⁴⁹ SCB Economic Intelligence Centre, Key Challenges in Thailand's Carbon Credit Market, (20 April 2023), Available at: <u>https://www.scbeic.com/en/detail/product/8952</u>
- ⁵⁰ Fulcrum, *Thailand's Carbon Offset Policies May Undermine Climate Action*, (28 November 2023), Available at: https://fulcrum.sg/thailands-carbon-offset-policies-may-undermine-climate-action/
- ⁵¹ Manushya Foundation, Complaint for Urgent Action for Protection of the 14 Sab Wai Villagers, facing human rights violations due to Thailand's False Climate Solutions, (4 August 2023), p. 24, available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/complaint-for-urgent-action-savesabwaivillagers-from-forced-evictions
- ⁵² Manushya Foundation, Complaint for Urgent Action for Protection of the 14 Sab Wai Villagers, facing human rights violations due to Thailand's False Climate Solutions, (4 August 2023), p. 24, available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/complaint-for-urgent-action-savesabwaivillagers-from-forced-evictions
- ⁵³ Manushya Foundation, Joint Statement: Thai authorities must release 22 Bang Kloi Karen and drop all forest encroachment charges, (6 March 2021), Available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/joint-statement-save-bangkloi</u>
- ⁵⁴ Manushya Foundation, Sai Thong Rak Pah Network, Indigenous Women's Network of Thailand, Thai Business & Human Rights Network and the Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, *Joint UPR Submission on Land-Related Rights, Forest Conservation Laws & Climate Change Policies: Thailand's Third Universal Periodic Review Cycle*, (25 March 2021), available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/joint-upr-submission-landrights
- ⁵⁵ Zsombor Peter, *Thai Park Officers Acquitted of Murder of Indigenous Rights Activist*, (28 September 2023), available at: <u>https://www.voanews.com/a/thai-park-officers-acquitted-of-murder-of-indigenous-rights-activist-/7288880.html</u>
- ⁵⁶ Paris Agreement, (2015), available at: https://unfccc.int/files/essential_background/convention/application/pdf/english_paris_agreement.pdf
- ⁵⁷ United Nations Climate Change, *Cooperative Implementation*, (2023), available at: <u>https://unfccc.int/process/the-paris-agreement/cooperative-implementation</u>
- ⁵⁸ The Carbon Neutral Protocol, 4.8. The Corresponding Adjustments (CAs), (2023), available at: <u>https://www.carbonneutral.com/the-carbonneutral-protocol/technical-specifications-and-guidance/step-4-reduce-1/4-8-corresponding-adjustments#:~:text=Article%206(2)%20of%20the,countries%20towards%20their%20Paris%20pledges</u>
- ⁵⁹ UN Environment Programme Copenhagen Climate Centre, *Article 6 Pipeline*, (6 December 2023), available at: <u>https://unepccc.org/article-6-pipeline/</u>
- ⁶⁰ Manushya Foundation, *Just Transition in the Context of Extractive Sector in Thailand*, (May 2023), p. 7, available at: <u>https://www.manushyafoundation.org/ files/ugd/a0db76_af97963472d145b6b34699233d2a6d57.pdf</u>
- ⁶¹ Electrification of transport in Thailand might be problematic due to unsustainable extraction of transition minerals needed for electric vehicle technologies. *See e.g.,* Manushya Foundation, *Just Transition in the Context of Extractive Sector in Thailand,* (May 2023), available at:
- https://www.manushyafoundation.org/_files/ugd/a0db76_af97963472d145b6b34699233d2a6d57.pdf
 ⁶² Alejandra Padin-Dujon, *COP28: Thailand poised to conclude first Article 6.2 carbon transfer for Paris Agreement compliance*, (6 December 2023), available at: https://carbon-pulse.com/242755/#:~:text=Thailand%20has%20already%20issued%20mitigation.stakeholders%20close%20to%20the%20p
- rocess.
 ⁶³ Joint Crediting Mechanism, About The Mechanism: Basic Concept of the Joint Crediting Mechanism (JCM), (2023), available at: https://www.jcm.go.jp/th-jp/about
- ⁶⁴ International Climate Initiative, Urban climate action: pilot projects under article 6 of the Paris Agreement in Indonesia & Thailand, (December 2023), available at: <u>https://www.international-climate-initiative.com/en/project/urban-climate-action-pilot-projects-under-article-6-of-the-paris-agreement-in-indonesia-thailand-img2020-i-006-asia-urban-climate-action-article-6-paris-agreement/</u>
- ⁶⁵ Green Policy Platform, About: SPAR6C Program Introduction, <u>https://www.greenpolicyplatform.org/initiatives/SPAR6C/About</u>
- ⁶⁶ Office of Natural Resources and Environment Policy and Planning, *Carbon Credit Management Guideline and Mechanism*, (2022), available at: <u>https://climate.onep.go.th/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Carbon-Credit-Management-Guideline-and-Mechanism.pdf</u>





Corporate accountability in the context of human rights and climate change in Thailand



Manushya Foundation, Submission to the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights in the context of climate change regarding corporate accountability in the context of human rights and climate change in Thailand, 11 December 2023



#JUSTTRANSITION

#CLIMATEJUSTICE



About Manushya Foundation

Manushya Foundation was founded in 2017 with the vision to build a movement of Equal Human Beings #WeAreManushyan. Manushya is an intersectional feminist human rights organization reinforcing the power of humans, in particular women, human rights defenders, indigenous peoples, forest-dependent communities, environmental defenders, LGBTI groups, and Youth, to be at the heart of decisionmaking processes that concern them and to speak truth to power at the forefront of their fight for Human Rights, Equality, Social Justice and Peace. Through coalition building, capacity building, community-led research, advocacy and campaigning, and sub-granting, local communities become Agents of Change fighting for their rights and providing solutions to improve their lives and livelihoods, pushing back on authoritarian governments and harmful corporations. Manushya defends local communities and seeks justice with them before the United Nations, focusing on women's rights and gender equality, digital rights, climate & environmental justice, and corporate accountability across Asia.



@manushyafoundation 🕑 🗲 @ManushyaFdn (in) 🕞 Manushya Foundation



Contact us at: WeAreManushyan@manushyafoundation.org www.manushyafoundation.org

🞯 🕑 @manushyafoundation 💥 🗗 @ManushyaFdn in 🖻 Manushya Foundation

#WeAreManushyan